Filed 11-06-2023

Page 1 of 34

FILED 11-06-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP2228-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KEITH C. KENYON,

Defendant-Respondent.

STATE'S APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO DISMISS THE INFORMATION, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1606 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) wittwerjj@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION

The State charged Defendant-Respondent Keith Kenyon with first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 12, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b), for performing cunnilingus on his ten-year-old niece. A conviction under this statute carries a 25-year mandatory minimum period of confinement. An overlapping offense—first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13 by sexual contact or intercourse, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e)—does not.

On Kenyon's motion, the circuit court dismissed the Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) charge on the ground that its mandatory minimum penalty of 25 years of confinement violated procedural due process and separation of powers. Specifically, the court concluded that the statutory scheme created by sections 948.02(1)(b), 948.02(1)(e), and Wis. Stat. § 939.616(1r) (establishing 25-year minimum confinement for conviction under section 948.02(1)(b)) was unconstitutionally vague because it did not provide guidance to prosecutors in determining when to charge section 948.02(1)(b), and when to charge section 948.02(1)(e). The court also concluded that, where the Legislature authorized prosecutors to charge an offense carrying a steep mandatory minimum instead of an overlapping offense without a minimum penalty, the statutory scheme denied Kenyon's right to be sentenced by a neutral tribunal and violated separation of powers.

The circuit court erred. The Legislature determines crimes and the appropriate penalties for violations, and statutes are presumed to be constitutional and are not unconstitutional until proven so beyond a reasonable doubt. The district attorney has broad discretion in charging offenses, and it is undisputed that Kenyon's alleged conduct satisfied the elements of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b)—and multiple other sexual offenses in the statutes.

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 8 of 34

Kenyon cannot show that the statutory scheme and charge under Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) violated procedural due process facially or as applied. To wit, the statutory scheme is plain and easily understood; it is not unconstitutionally vague. The prosecutor acted within her discretion in charging Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b), and neither Kenyon nor the circuit court cited any authority for the novel proposition that a charge carrying a lengthy mandatory minimum sentence may violate a defendant's right to be sentenced by a neutral tribunal. Finally, the statutory scheme at issue mandating a minimum sentence and thereby restricting the discretion of the sentencing court does not violate separation of powers because the Legislature determines the scope of sentencing courts' discretion in our system.

This Court should reverse and remand with instructions to reinstate the Information charging Kenyon with violating Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b).

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can Kenyon prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the charge or statutory scheme under which he was charged violates procedural due process, either facially or as applied?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests publication. The constitutionality of the statutory scheme created by the enactment of two overlapping offenses for first-degree sexual assault of a child, Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) and Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e), and the 25-year minimum confinement term associated with the former but not the latter, is an issue of substantial public interest. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)5. Though not

requested, the State welcomes oral argument if the Court believes that it would be helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The offense and charge

In February 2019, Keith Kenyon took his ten-year-old niece Leah¹ to see Disney on Ice, and Leah stayed at Kenyon's for a sleepover. (R. 1:1.) That night, as she later told a forensic interviewer, Leah pretended to be asleep so that Kenyon would carry her to her cousin's room. (R. 1:1; 23:4.) Kenyon picked Leah up, carried her into the room, and laid her on the bed. (R. 1:1; 23:4.) Keyon then unzipped her onesie pajamas, moved her underwear to the side, wiped her vagina with a cloth, and licked her vagina. (R. 1:1; 23:4.) When, a few months later, Leah's mother told Leah about plans for another sleepover at Kenyon's, Leah disclosed the assault to her mother and then to police. (R. 1:1; 21:3.)

In July 2019, the State charged Kenyon with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 12 by sexual intercourse, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b). (R. 1:1.) The circuit court held a preliminary hearing and bound Kenyon over for trial upon finding probable cause to believe that Kenyon committed a felony. (R. 23:18.)

The motion to dismiss and statutory scheme

In November 2019, Kenyon filed a motion to dismiss the Information as a violation of the right to procedural due process under the federal and state constitutions. (R. 21:1–8.) Kenyon's claim challenged the prosecutor's decision to charge him with an offense that carries a mandatory minimum confinement provision instead of a similar offense under the

¹ Leah is a pseudonym. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

same section that does not carry a minimum penalty. (R. 21:1–8.)

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1) identifies the prohibited acts constituting the crime of first-degree sexual assault of a child. Kenyon was charged with violating section 948.02(1)(b), which provides: "Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 12 years is guilty of a Class B. felony." The allegations against Kenyon also constituted a violation of section 948.02(1)(e), which provides: "Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years is guilty of a Class B felony."²

As Class B felonies, both offenses carry up to a 60-year prison sentence with a maximum of 40 years of initial confinement. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(b); 948.02(1); 973.01(2)(b)1. But a violation of section 948.02(1)(b) also carries a mandatory minimum term of 25 years of initial confinement, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.616(1r). Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) has no mandatory minimum penalty.

Kenyon argued that, by charging him with the offense carrying the mandatory minimum sentence instead of the offense without a minimum penalty, the State violated his rights to procedural due process in two ways. (R. 21:1–8.) First, he contended that the State's charge denied his due process right to be sentenced by a neutral hearing tribunal by compelling the court to sentence him to at least 25 years of initial confinement, no matter the specifics of his case. (R. 21:4–5.) Second, he maintained that the statutory scheme was void for vagueness because it provides no factors to prevent the State from charging in an arbitrary manner the offense carrying the lengthy mandatory sentence instead of the

² The full text of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) is provided in the Argument section.

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 11 of 34

offense without a minimum penalty. (R. 21:5–7.) Kenyon argued that it was unfair to charge him with the offense carrying the mandatory minimum because he had no criminal record, and the offense was not aggravated. (R. 21:4.)

The State filed a response opposing the motion. (R. 24:1–3.) The State argued that the United States Supreme Court has long recognized that, when an act violates more than one criminal statute, the State has the discretion to decide under which statute to charge the defendant. (R. 24:1.) The State observed that this rule holds even when the two offenses have identical elements but carry different penalties, citing *United States v. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 123–24 (1979). (R. 24:1–2.) Kenyon filed a reply brief that sought to distinguish *Batchelder*. (R. 28:1–7.)

The court did not immediately act on the motion, and the parties litigated additional matters. These included the admissibility of both expert testimony and a recording of the child forensic interview. (R. 35:1–6; 38:1–4; 46:1–85; 48:1–16; 49:1–72; 50:1–14; 59:1; 65:1–5; 75:1; 102:1–15.)

In April 2021, Kenyon filed an amended motion to dismiss the Information, adding a third argument. (R. 45:1–8.) He argued that the statutory scheme also violated the doctrine of separation of powers under the Wisconsin Constitution. (R. 45:2.)

Kenyon asserted that the statutory scheme the Legislature created with the enactment of Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(1)(b) and (1)(e) violated separation of powers by "abdicating to the executive branch, the prosecution, the legislature's constitutional role of establishing the penalty for proscribed conduct" and "by invading the power of the judicial branch by giving the prosecution . . . the ability to preordain the sentence of a defendant." (R. 45:2.)

The State filed a response opposing the amended motion. (R. 47:1.) The State noted that Wisconsin courts have

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 12 of 34

rejected separation of powers challenges to statutes imposing mandatory minimum penalties and the penalty enhancer of life-without-parole for persistent repeat offenders, citing *State v. Sittig*, 75 Wis. 2d 497, 500, 249 N.W.2d 770 (1977) (mandatory minimum penalties), and *State v. Lindsey*, 203 Wis. 2d 423, 440–41, 554 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1996) (life-without-parole enhancement for persistent repeat offenders). (R. 47:1–4.) The State noted that the supreme court had previously rejected Kenyon's apparent view that the judicial branch alone decides the penalty for illegal conduct, citing *Sittig*, 75 Wis. 2d at 499–500. (R. 47:4.)

In July 2022, Kenyon filed a supplement to his motion to dismiss. In the supplement, Kenyon asserted that there were 34 Milwaukee County cases in which the District Attorney's office had charged a violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) carrying the 25-year mandatory minimum since January 2018, and Kenyon provided a brief summary of the facts and disposition of each case. (R. 73:5, 8–19.) Kenyon then asserted that his was "easily the least aggravated of all the 34 cases reviewed." (R. 73:5, 8–19.) He also asserted that, because "[i]n virtually every case when Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) was initially charged, including this case, the State agreed to amend the charge to another sex offense without the 25 year minimum penalty," the State "arbitrarily charges" section 948.02(1)(b). (R. 73:4.)

Kenyon also provided a copy of a November 2019 written plea offer the State made to Kenyon. (R. 73:6, 20.) The offer allowed Kenyon to plead guilty to a charge of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13 by sexual contact, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e), with a recommendation of five to seven years of initial confinement and seven years of extended supervision. (R. 73:6, 20.)

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 13 of 34

The circuit court's decision

On November 18, 2022, the circuit court, the Honorable David Borowski, issued a decision and order granting the motion to dismiss the Information. (R. 79:1–11, A-App. 3–13.) Adopting Kenyon's arguments, the court held that the statutory scheme violated Kenyon's constitutional right to procedural due process and separation of powers. (R. 79:3, A-App. 5.)

First, the court said that the statutes violated due process because the scheme is unconstitutionally vague for providing "no perceptible constraints on arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement by the prosecution in deciding whether to charge" an act of sexual intercourse with a child under the age of 12 with a violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) or Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e). (R. 79:6–9, A-App. 8–11.)

Second, the court said that the statutory scheme was unconstitutional because the charge under Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) and not Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) constituted "sentencing by charging." (R. 79:9–10, A-App. 11–12.) The court appeared to conclude that this defect denied Kenyon his right to be sentenced by a neutral tribunal and prevented the court from considering mitigating factors that might warrant imposing less than 25 years of confinement in Kenyon's case. (R. 79:9–10, A-App. 11–12.) The court said that the State itself was aware of these mitigating factors when it offered to recommend five to seven years of initial confinement in exchange for a guilty plea to violating section 948.02(1)(e). (R. 79:9–10, A-App. 11–12.)

Third, and related to the second point, the court said that the statutes at issue contravene separation-of-powers principles. (R. 79:10–11, A-App. 12–13.) "[T]he legislature has created a statutory scheme," the court stated, "whereby the scope of the court's sentencing authority is a function of the prosecution's charging decision under sub. (1)(b) rather than

sub. (1)(e) despite significant and (multiple) mitigating factors" in Kenyon's case. (R. 79:10–11, A-App. 12–13.)

The court concluded by criticizing the State's decision to charge Kenyon with a violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b), calling it a "strong-arm" tactic meant to pressure Kenyon into resolving his case by a plea:

[T]he prosecution's decision to charge the defendant in this case under [section] 948.02(1)(b), rather than [section] 948.02(1)(e), despite the significant mitigating circumstances, appears to be nothing more than a tactical measure to strong-arm the defendant into accepting a plea to the lesser offense in order to avoid a wholly disproportionate mandatory minimum penalty. The court cannot sanction this practice when it is based upon an arbitrary enforcement of the law, strips the court of its authority to consider mitigating factors, and places sentencing decisions in the hands of the prosecution. For these reasons, the court grants the defense motion to dismiss the Information.

(R. 79:11, A-App. 13.)

The State appeals.

ARGUMENT

Kenyon cannot prove that the statutory scheme mandating a 25-year minimum term of confinement for a conviction under Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) but not Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) is unconstitutional.

A. Standard of review

The constitutionality of a statutory scheme is a question of law subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Barbeau*, 2016 WI App 51, \P 29, 370 Wis. 2d 736, 883 N.W.2d 520.

B. Legal principles

1. Relevant statutes

As noted, Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1) identifies the prohibited acts constituting the crime of first-degree sexual assault of a child.³ Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) provides as follows: "Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 12 years is guilty of a Class B. felony." Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) provides: "Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years is guilty of a Class B felony."

A Class B felony carries a maximum prison sentence of 60 years with up to 40 years of initial confinement. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(b); 948.02(1); 973.01(2)(b)1. As noted, a violation of section 948.02(1)(b) carries a mandatory minimum term of 25 years of initial confinement, pursuant to Wis. Stat.

³ Wisconsin Stat. § 948.02(1) provides in full:

First degree sexual assault. (am) Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years and causes great bodily harm to the person is guilty of a Class A felony.

- (b) Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 12 years is guilty of a Class B felony.
- (c) Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 16 years by use or threat of force or violence is guilty of a Class B felony.
- (d) Whoever has sexual contact with a person who has not attained the age of 16 years by use or threat of force or violence is guilty of a Class B felony if the actor is at least 18 years of age when the sexual contact occurs.
- (e) Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years is guilty of a Class B felony.

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 16 of 34

§ 939.616(1r). A violation of section 948.02(1)(e) carries no mandatory minimum penalty.

2. Challenges to the constitutionality of a statute

"Every legislative enactment is presumed to be constitutional." Barbeau, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 29. A facial constitutional challenge attacks the statute itself, claiming that the law "cannot be enforced under any circumstances." $State\ v.\ Forrett$, 2022 WI 37, ¶ 5, 401 Wis. 2d 678, 684, 974 N.W.2d 422 (citation omitted). An as-applied constitutional challenge attacks the application of the statute to the particular facts. $State\ v.\ Smith$, 2010 WI 16, ¶ 10 n.9, 323 Wis. 2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90.

A party raising either a facial or as-applied challenge must meet a heavy burden to overcome the presumption of a statute's constitutionality, and they must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutional. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. This Court resolves any reasonable doubt in favor of upholding the statute. *State v. O'Brien*, 2014 WI 54, ¶ 17, 354 Wis. 2d 753, 850 N.W.2d 8. "Every presumption to sustain the law if at all possible will be indulged, and if any doubt exists about the constitutionality of a statute, that doubt will be resolved in favor of constitutionality." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 29.

Though the presumption of a statute's constitutionality holds true in an as-applied challenge, courts do not presume that the State has applied the statutes in a constitutional manner. *Soc'y Ins. v. Lab. & Indus. Rev. Comm'n*, 2010 WI 68, ¶ 27, 326 Wis. 2d 444, 786 N.W.2d 385. "Because the legislature plays no part in enforcing our statutes, 'deference to legislative acts' is not achieved by presuming that the statute has been constitutionally applied." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-06-2023 Page 17 of 34

3. The prosecutor's charging discretion

In Wisconsin, it is well established that a prosecutor enjoys "broad discretion in determining whether to charge an accused, which offenses to charge [and] under which statute to charge." State v. Krueger, 224 Wis. 2d 59, 67, 588 N.W.2d 921 (1999) (footnotes omitted); see also State v. Lindsey, 203 Wis. 2d 423, 440, 554 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1996); State ex rel. Kurkierewicz v. Cannon, 42 Wis. 2d 368, 378, 166 N.W.2d 255 (1969).

When two statutes have similar, or even identical, elements, but different penalties, a prosecutor is free to choose the statute under which to prosecute without violating due process or equal protection, provided the choice is not based "upon an unjustifiable standard such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification." *State v. Cissell*, 127 Wis. 2d 205, 215, 378 N.W.2d 691 (1985); *see also United States v. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 125 n.9 (1979).

"In our system, so long as the prosecutor has probable cause to believe that the accused committed an offense defined by statute, the decision whether or not to prosecute, and what charge to file or bring before a grand jury, generally rests entirely in his discretion." *Bordenkircher v. Hayes*, 434 U.S. 357, 364 (1978); see also State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 29, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("The sine qua non of the charging decision is probable cause.").

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