Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent

Filed 02-19-2024

Page 1 of 51

FILED
02-19-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No.: 2022AP2228-CR Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No.: 2019 CF 2917

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

KEITH C. KENYON,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

On Appeal From an Order Granting Defendant-Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, The Honorable David L. Borowski, Presiding

Respectfully Submitted,

BUTING, WILLIAMS & STILLING, S.C. Jerome F. Buting, SB #1002856 Dudley A. Williams, SB #1005730 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

Address:
P.O. Box 1039
Brookfield, WI 53008

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION 8
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 8
STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT
I. The circuit court properly dismissed the information as unconstitutionally applied to the defendant
A. The circuit court properly ruled that §948.02(1) as applied to Kenyon is unconstitutionally vague
B. The record contains no evidence of any constraints or guidelines to prevent the arbitrary and discriminatory charging decision by the district attorney in this case 28
II. The statutory scheme employed by the State violates the doctrine of separation of powers under the Wisconsin State Constitution
III. The State's use of the mandatory minimum in this case violates due process by constituting sentencing by the prosecutor, rather than a neutral magistrate
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION BY ATTORNEY
CERTIFICATION OF SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX 50
SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX TABLE OF CONTENTS

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 3 of 51

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Wisconsin Cases Cited

Bachowski v. Salamone, 139 Wis. 2d 397, 407 N.W.2d 533 (1987)
Dowling v. Lancashire Ins. Co., 92 Wis. 63, 65 N.W. 738 (1896)
Fabick v. Evers, 2021 WI 28, 396 Wis. 2d 231, 956 N.W.2d 856
Gabler v. Crime Victims Rts. Bd., 2017 WI 67, 376 Wis. 2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384
Goodland v. Zimmerman, 243 Wis. 459, 10 N.W.2d 180 (1943)
Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp, 2013 WI App 32, 346 Wis 2d. 635, 829 N.W. 2d 522
Rules of Court Case, 204 Wis. 501, 236 N.W. 717 (1931)
Soc'y Ins. v. LIRC, 2010 WI 68, 326 Wis. 2d 444, 786 N.W.2d 385
State ex rel. Fiedler v. Wisconsin Senate, 155 Wis.2d 94, 454 N.W.2d 770 (1990)
State ex rel Friedrich v. Dane County Cir. Court, 192 Wis.2d 1, 531 N.W.2d 32 (1995)
State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Peterson, 2015 WI 85, 363 Wis. 2d 1
State v. Bonds,
2006 WI 83, 292 Wis. 2d 344, 717 N.W.2d 133

State 1	v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis.2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197
State 1	v. <i>Hall</i> , 207 Wis.2d 54, 557 N.W.2d 778 (1997)
State 1	v. Hamdan, 2003 WI 113, 264 Wis.2d 433, 665 N.W.2d 785
State 1	v. Holmes, 106 Wis.2d 31, 315 N.W.2d 703 (1982)
State v	v. Horn, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999)
State v	v. <i>Lindsey</i> , 203 Wis. 2d 423, 554 N.W.2d 215 (1996)
State 1	v. Sittig, 75 Wis. 2d 497, 249 N.W.2d 770 (1977)
State v	v. Stenklyft, 2005 WI 71, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 696 N.W.2d 769
State v	v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63
	of Holland v. Vill. of Cedar Grove, 230 Wis. 177, 282 N.W. 111 (1938)
Wisco	nsin Legislature v. Palm, 2020 WI 42, 391 Wis. 2d 497, 942 N.W.2d 900 36, 40, 43
Other	· Cases Cited
Black	v. Romano, 471 U.S. 606 (1985)

Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 130 S.Ct. 876, 175 L.Ed. 2d 753 (2010) 20
Gagnon v. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778 (1973)
Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 135 S.Ct. 2551, 192 L.Ed.2d 569 (2015)
Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352 (1983)
Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156 (2012)
Morrisey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972)
Sessions v. Dimaya, 584 U.S, 138 S. Ct. 1204, 200 L.Ed. 2d 549 (2018) 23, 40
Six Star Holdings, LLC v. City of Milwaukee, 821 F.3d 795 (7th Cir, 2016)20
Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566 (1974)
United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114 (1979)10, 11, 25, 26, 27, 46, 49
United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005)
Williams v. Pennsylvania, 579 U.S. 1, 136 S.Ct. 1899, 195 L.Ed.2d 132 (2016) 45
Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974)

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 6 of 51

Constitutions, Rules and Statutes
Wis. Stats. § 939.616(1r)
Wis. Stats. § 939.617
Wis. Stats. § 948.05
Wis. Stats. § 948.075
Wis. Stats. § 948.12
Wis. Stats. § 948.02(1)(b) passim
Wis. Stats. § 948.02(1)(e) passim
Other Authorities
Gorsuch, Neil,
A Republic If You Can Keep It, 87 (Crown Forum ed., 1st ed. 2019)
LaFave, Wayne, § 13.7(a) Duplicative and overlapping statutes, 4 Crim. Proc. § 13.7(a) (4th ed.)
Kreit, Alex
Making Sense of Facial and As-Applied Challenges, 18 Wm. & Mary Bill Rts. J. 657 (2010) 20

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Is § 948.02(1) unconstitutionally vague as applied to Kenyon in violation of Fourteenth Amendment Due Process because of the district attorney's decision to charge § 948.02(1)(b) in this case, with its mandatory minimum 25-year prison sentence, rather than the alternative subsection in the statute, §948.02(1)(e), which requires no minimum mandatory sentence for the very same conduct, when the statute provides no constraints on arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement by the prosecution in choosing which Class B felony to charge, and the record shows arbitrary application of the statute by the Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office in this case?

Answer by Circuit Court: Yes

II. Does the State's decision to charge § 948.02(1)(b) in this case constitute an invasion of a core judicial power by predetermining the sentence, which violates the state constitutional separation of powers and thwarts the judicial branch from imposing a rational and fair sentence guided by the three sentencing factors the Wisconsin Supreme Court has repeatedly held are to control sentencing. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 44, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197; *State v. Stenklyft*, 2005 WI 71, ¶ 98-99, 281 Wis. 2d 484, 697 N.W.2d 769.

Answer by Circuit Court: Yes

Filed 02-19-2024 Page 8 of 51 Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent

> III. Does the State's decision to charge the minimum mandatory 25-year offense in this case violate procedural due process because it amounts to "sentencing by charging" by predetermining the sentence and deprives the defendant of his right to be sentenced by a neutral tribunal?

Answer by Circuit Court: Yes

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel believes that the parties' briefs will adequately address the issues raised in this appeal, and that the Court will therefore deem oral argument to be unnecessary. Because the appeal involves an issue which arises routinely, publication is warranted to give guidance in future cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged in a criminal complaint filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 15, 2019, with a single count of first degree sexual assault of a child who has not attained the age of 12, a Class B felony, contrary to Sec. 948.02(1)(b). (R.1). The complaint noted the provisions of Sec. 939.616(1r), which requires the court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a term of confinement of 25 years. (Id.). Following a preliminary hearing, Kenyon entered a plea of not guilty to the one count in the Information charging a violation of 948.02(1)(b), with a mandatory minimum period of initial confinement of 25 years upon conviction. (R. 12).

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 9 of 51

Kenyon then filed a motion to dismiss the Information as an unconstitutional violation of procedural due process. (R.21). He noted that the legislature created two subsections of first degree sexual assault of a child which cover the same conduct alleged in his complaint and have the same maximum penalty, however one has no mandatory minimum penalty, §948.02(1)(e). The other, that was charged in Kenyon's case, §948.02(1)(b), carries a mandatory minimum of 25 years imprisonment. Kenyon argued there is no guidance in the statutory scheme to inhibit a prosecutor's arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement of one subsection versus the other, in violation of the procedural due process prohibition against vagueness. The subsection which *mandates* the imposition of a 25-year minimum sentence was presumably intended by the legislature to be applied to only the most egregious facts and defendant history, not an individual like Kenyon with no prior arrest and alleged conduct which barely fit within the elements of § 948.02(1)(b). Kenyon argued that his procedural due process rights were violated by the lack of any constraints on the arbitrary and discriminatory charging decision by the prosecutor in his case.

Kenyon also argued that the State applied the statutory scheme in such a way that it unconstitutionally violates the separation of powers doctrine. The State's application of the statute allows the executive branch – the prosecutor

– to usurp the legislature's constitutional role of establishing the penalty for proscribed conduct and the judiciary's constitutional power to determine an appropriate sentence by preordaining the sentence the defendant will serve upon conviction. Kenyon also argued that the decision to charge the subsection mandating a minimum of 25 years imprisonment under these circumstances deprived him of his due process right to be sentenced by a neutral magistrate with the full power to fashion an appropriate sentence after applying all the factors repeatedly recognized by the Wisconsin Supreme Court as critical to a just and fair sentence. (R. 45).

The State responded that *United States vs. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 123-24 (1979), affirmed that a prosecutor has the sole discretion to decide what charge to file in any case. (R.24). The State also argued that the legislature can establish mandatory minimum sentences under any circumstance without violating the separation of powers doctrine and the District Attorney's power to commence a prosecution against a defendant is "almost limitless." (R. 47: 3).¹

Kenyon replied that the State's reliance on *Batchelder* was misguided because that case concerned a prosecutor's charging decision between two

¹The State initially also complained that Kenyon had not notified the Wisconsin Attorney General's office of his constitutional challenge, pursuant to *Kurtz v. City of Waukesha*, 91 Wis 2d. 103, 116-17 (1979). However, this was rendered moot when Kenyon thereafter notified the Wisconsin Attorney General who then declined to participate. (R. 58; R. 60).

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 11 of 51

statutes with different *maximum* penalties versus the issue here where the application of a severe mandatory minimum is challenged. Kenyon argued that *Batchelder* actually supported his constitutional challenge because the United States Supreme Court recognized that a prosecutor's decision to charge an offense with a greater *maximum* penalty actually increases the court's discretion when imposing a sentence, rather than limiting it. Here, Kenyon argued, the mandatory minimum effectively eliminates virtually all discretion the court has in imposing a sentence. (R. 28).

Following multiple rounds of briefing and oral arguments, Milwaukee County Circuit Court Judge David Borowski issued a decision granting Kenyon's motion and dismissed the case on November 18, 2022. (R. 79). Judge Borowski found that the charging decision in Kenyon's case violated his right to procedural due process. The court found that §948.02(1) contains two provisions encompassing the exact same conduct and carrying the same maximum penalty but one with a mandatory minimum of twenty five years, and that the "total absence of standards to govern the prosecutorial decision [as to which subsection of § 948.02(1) to charge] results in an arbitrary charging standard and deprives the court of the discretionary authority to consider mitigating factors and impose a sentence of less than 25 years of initial confinement." (R. 79:3).

Judge Borowski further found that by charging under 948.02(1)(b) with its mandatory minimum of 25 years, the prosecutor has "effectively stripped the court of its authority and discretion." (R. 79: 9). The court held that the charging decision in this case prevented the court from exercising its sentencing power to impose what certainly would have been significantly less than 25 years given all the facts and circumstances of the case and the court's extensive familiarity with sentences imposed in the hundreds of child sexual assault cases he had handled previously and the sentences imposed in Milwaukee County by his fellow judges.² Referring to his experience over the years presiding over very serious cases, he found that "the average homicide defendant does not serve [twenty five years] upfront time" and "the offense in this case does not call for anywhere near 25 years." (R. 79:12-13). The court also noted that the State tendered a plea offer in this case to recommend five to seven years incarceration upon a plea to an amended charge of §948.02(1)(e). (R. 79:12). The court recognized that the legislature has the authority to set mandatory minimum sentences for certain offenses, but he

=

²Judge Borowski has been a circuit court judge in Milwaukee County for twenty years. He has spent over a decade handling serious felony matters and has presided over hundreds of cases with defendants charged with violations of child sexual assault pursuant to the provisions at issue here. CCAP data establishes that Judge Borowski has been assigned to over 200 cases charging over 300 counts of violations of 948.02 between 2008 and his last felony rotation in 2022. The court's decision obviously took into account his experience in presiding over hundreds of child sexual assault offenses.

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 13 of 51

found that the legislature "must do so in a reasonable and rational manner if they seek to limit a sentencing court's discretion." (R:79:10). He concluded:

The court recognizes that the prosecution has wide discretion in making charging decisions; however, the prosecution's decision to charge the defendant in this case under § 948.02(1)(b), rather than § 948.02(1)(e), despite the significant mitigating circumstances, appears to be nothing more than a tactical measure to strong-arm the defendant into accepting a plea to the lesser offense in order to avoid a wholly disproportionate mandatory minimum penalty. The court cannot sanction this practice when it is based upon an arbitrary enforcement of the law, strips the court of its authority to consider mitigating factors, and places sentencing decisions in the hands of the prosecution. For these reasons, the court grants the defense motion to dismiss the Information.

Id. at 11.

The State appealed to this Court. (R. 80).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The criminal complaint referred to a forensic interview of the alleged victim, eight-year-old Leah,³ in which she said Kenyon is her uncle and that on February 15, 2019, after a Disney on Ice show she spent the night at his house. The complaint alleged that Leah pretended to be asleep so her uncle would carry her to her cousin's room. He picked her up, carried her into the room, unzipped her onesie pajama and licked her vagina. The complaint alleged (incorrectly as the forensic interview later showed the court) that Leah

_

³The Defendant uses the same pseudonym for the alleged victim that the State utilizes in its brief.

Case 2022AP002228 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2024 Page 14 of 51

said she told her mother four months later about the incident because her mother was going to take Leah to "her uncle's house for another sleep over" on that day. (R. 1).

Additional details about the allegation were revealed to the court and parties during a preliminary hearing (R. 23). At the preliminary hearing, the police forensic interviewer testified that Leah said she and her cousin were at her cousin's house and they fell asleep while watching a movie. She said her uncle picked up her cousin first and took her into the bedroom, then came back and picked Leah up and carried her into the same bedroom. (R. 23: 16). According to the officer, Leah said he unzipped her pajamas, moved her panties aside,⁴ wiped her with a cloth and licked her one time on her vagina (*Id.* at 12, 15). He then stopped and zipped her back up. Leah's six-year old cousin was laying in bed right next to her when this went on. (*Id.* at 10).⁵ The officer did not ask Leah to clarify what she meant by her vagina and did not use terms like vulva or clitoris or use a diagram or doll or have her point to where she was contacted on her own body. (*Id.* at 7-9).

-

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